IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA OF WEST VIRGINIA Docket No.: 22-0082

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, Respondent, (An appeal of the final order of the Circuit Court of Mineral County, Case No.: 19-F-78)

v.

TAMMY GRAY Petitioner.

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

Counsel for the Petitioner, Tammy Gray

Jeremy B. Cooper WV State Bar ID 12319 Blackwater Law PLLC 6 Loop St. #1 Aspinwall, PA 15215 Tel: (304) 376-0037 Fax: (681) 245-6308 jeremy@blackwaterlawpllc.com

##

### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Petitioner and her counsel were not present during a critical stage of the proceedings when the Court ordered a severance of her trial from that of her codefendant, resulting in structural error.
- The Petitioner was improperly convicted of two counts of conspiracy stemming from the same agreement.
- The Circuit Court erred by declining to order the suppression of the evidence derived by the search warrants following the suppression hearing.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner was indicted by the Mineral County Grand Jury on September 3, 2019, for burglary, grand larceny, conspiracy to commit burglary, and conspiracy to commit grand larceny, as well as misdemeanor destruction of property, in case number 19-F-78. (Appendix Record ["A.R."], at 3-6).<sup>1</sup> The Petitioner's co-defendant and alleged co-conspirator, Clinton Knotts, was also indicted on the same set of allegation s in case number 19-F-79. The cases were initially joined, and a joint suppression hearing was held on June 11, 2020, relating to the fruits of several search warrants that had been executed during the investigation. (A.R., at 40-103). The Circuit Court denied suppression. (A.R., at 7-8).

On March 15, 2021, the Circuit Court set a trial date for the joint trial. The entire hearing is set forth as follows:

(Monday, March 15, 2021, 10:57 a.m.) THE COURT: Are we having them together, or are we having them separate? MR. EASTON [Clinton Knotts' counsel]: Everything's together so far, Your Honor.

<sup>1</sup> The Petitioner was separately charged in case number 19-F-80, which was listed on the notice of appeal, and included in the style of the order appointing counsel. However, that case was not tried and is still pending in Mineral County Circuit Court, and therefore is not the subject of this appeal.

THE COURT: Okay. We're doing Gray and Knotts. We're just picking a trial date. How many days are we going to need on each on?

MR. PANCAKE: I think -

THE COURT: How many days are we going to need?

MR. D'ATRI [Petitioner's trial counsel]: Two total.

MR. PANCAKE: How many did we have - two - last time?

THE COURT: When do you want it?

MR. D'ATRI: Wondered what you had in July, Your Honor,

because we just set another jury trial of mine for June?

THE CLERK: Are we doing the jury trials together?

THE COURT: Yeah. How about the 29th and 30th of July?

MR. PANCAKE: That doesn't -

THE CLERK: Jay has -

MR. PANCAKE: – work for me.

THE CLERK: No, it doesn't. Jay has a motion day, as well, on the  $30^{\text{th}}$ .

MR. PANCAKE: Well, that's going to have to change, probably.

THE COURT: We can do it the 28th or 29th?

THE CLERK: Jay has a three day jury trial the 26th, 27th, and 28th.

THE COURT: Okay. That ain't going to work. Let's go to August.

Let's start on Tuesday, the 3<sup>rd</sup>?

THE CLERK: That works.

MR. PANCAKE: How about – can we – how about Wednesday, start on Wednesday?

THE CORUT: Wednesday, all right. Wednesday and Thursday, the  $4^{th}$  and  $5^{th}$ . Is that all right?

THE CLERK: That works for the court.

MR. D'ATRI: It works for me.

THE COURT: Is that good for you, Brent?

MR. EASTON: That will be fine, Your Honor; thank you.

THE COURT: All right. Let's do that. If you need a pretrial,

contact the Court - final pretrial - and we'll do it in July.

THE CLERK: Regular amount of jurors?

MR. D'ATRI. Yes.

THE COURT: Yes. All right. This hearing is closed.

(The hearing concluded at 11:00 a.m.)

### (A.R., at 118-119.)

No further proceedings were held until August 4, 2021, at which time the following

hearing took place, between the Court, the State, Mr. Knotts, and his counsel Mr. Easton:

(Wednesday, August 4, 2021, 8:18 a.m.) THE COURT: We're on the record in the Circuit Court of Mineral County in the matter of State of West Virginia versus Clinton Knotts. It's 19-F-77. He's here with his counsel, Brent Easton. The State's present by its prosecutor, Mr. Pancake. The Court was advised last night that we have a problem with a Bruton<sup>2</sup> issue. So I understand we're going to --

MR. PANCAKE: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Pancake?

MR. PANCAKE: If I just may speak briefly on this. There's an issue, obviously, in the case with joint defendants. Miss Gray, who is also scheduled today, gave a statement in this case. Of course, you know, she holds that privilege on testimony in that respect. Nevertheless, the issue is we have a co-defendant; we have a statement out there by the other co-defendant. I don't believe that there's any way to resolve this issue, Your Honor, other than bifurcate this case at this matter. I wish this issue -- well, you know, we had thought about it, you know, a year ago. Honestly, I didn't -- I do want to give a lot of -- recognize Mr. Easton for this. He brought it to my attention yesterday morning, Your Honor; and he is exactly right on this.

THE COURT: I agree.

MR. PANCAKE: I do want to say, he's a very honorable man. He has done an excellent job in this case. I don't think it's anybody's fault, but I think the only way to resolve the issue at this point is just to bifurcate this case. That's the only clean --

THE COURT: I understand.

MR. PANCAKE: -- clear, constitutional way to do it.

THE COURT: Mr. Easton?

MR. EASTON: Your Honor, obviously, Mr. Knotts is prepared for trial today. The trial has been set for 14 months. His preference would be to go to trial today with the exclusion of the statement. THE COURT: Right. Well, my understanding is the only way we could have done that is if we had two different juries and they stepped out while she gave her testimony -- or the testimony about Mr. Knotts was introduced, his jury would have to step out. So I am going to continue this. We'll do it August 26. We done it as quickly as we can. We've got to get notices out.

MR. EASTON: Note our objection for the record, Your Honor. THE COURT: Yes, sir. Your exceptions are saved. I would prefer to have them today, too; but it's a legal problem that we're into. We'll just going to come back and do it again, so we might as well do it right. All right. We stand continued until we bring the jury in and Mr. D'Atri gets here.

(The hearing concluded at 8:21 a.m.)

<sup>2</sup> Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S.Ct. 1620, 20 L.Ed.2d 476 (1968)

(A.R., at 339-341).

The matter proceeded to trial solely on Ms. Gray's indictment, at which time she was convicted of all counts of the indictment. (A.R., at 9-11, 121-295). Notably, the Petitioner's statements were used against her in evidence. (A.R., at 198-199, 211-217). At sentencing, the Petitioner received consecutive sentences for Burglary, Conspiracy to Commit Burglary, and Conspiracy to Commit Grand Larceny, and concurrent sentences for Grand Larceny and destruction of property, for an effective sentence of 3-25 years of incarceration.<sup>3</sup> (A.R., at 13-15). It is from her judgment of sentence that the Petitioner now appeals.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court engaged in structural error when it held a hearing to sever the trials between her and her co-defendant on the morning of trial, with no notice, prior to the arrival of the Petitioner's counsel, and apparently out of her presence. A hearing is a critical stage of the proceedings, to which a right to be present, and right to be represented by counsel attaches, whenever a defense may be lost during the course of the hearing. In the Petitioner's case, she lost the advantage that she would have had under *Bruton* not to have her out of court statement used against her during the joint trial. Even though she is not required to show prejudice in an assertion of structural error, she was clearly prejudiced by the admission of evidence that would not have otherwise come in, absent the result of the severance hearing, concerning which she had no notice, no presence, and no representation by counsel. This error necessitates a new trial.

Additionally, the Petitioner has been prejudiced by a double jeopardy violation, because

<sup>3</sup> During the sentencing hearing, there was some confusion over whether conspiracy sentences were determinate or indeterminate, and the Circuit Court apparently intended to give the Petitioner two 3-year determinate sentences for those charges, subject to the prosecutor verifying the correct sentencing provisions. (A.R., at 308-309). In the written order, she got a total of 2-10 years, which significantly exceeds a determinate 6 year sentence. (A.R., at 12-15). In light of, *inter alia*, this Court's recent ruling in *State v. Riffle*, No. 20-0765 (W.Va June 7, 2022), the Petitioner is not assigning error to this particular set of circumstances.

she has been convicted of two counts of conspiracy relating to the same agreement. The mere fact that a single agreement involves the commission of more than one offense does not allow an individual to be punished twice for a single agreement. Because trial counsel did not raise this issue, it must be asserted via plain error or in the context of a limited assertion of ineffective assistance of counsel. The Petitioner would have been entitled to relief if it had been asked for on her behalf, and this Court should grant her relief via one or both of the theories asserted in this appeal.

Lastly, the Circuit Court erred by declining to suppress the admission of evidence obtained via three search warrants on the grounds of particularity. Numerous items were obtained and used against the Petitioner at trial on the basis of search warrants that did not describe the items, either at all, or with sufficient particularity. The Circuit Court's denial of the suppression of said items following an *in camera* hearing is reversible error.

### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioner has raised three claims of a constitutional magnitude: denial of the Petitioner's presence at a critical stage of the proceedings; double jeopardy, and a Fourth Amendment violation. This Court should grant oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, and dispose of this matter by signed opinion.

### ARGUMENT

# 1. The Petitioner and her counsel were not present during a critical stage of the proceedings when the Court ordered a severance of her trial from that of her codefendant, resulting in structural error.

The assertion of the denial of a constitutional right is determined by the following standard: "Failure to observe a constitutional right constitutes reversible error unless it can be shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.' Syllabus point 5, *State ex rel.* 

5

### Grob v. Blair, W.Va., 214 S.E.2d 330 (1975)." Syl. Pt. 5, State v. Boyd, 160 W.Va. 234, 233

#### S.E.2d 710 (1977).

This Court has also held:

A defendant is constitutionally guaranteed the right to be present at any stage of the criminal proceeding that is critical to its outcome, if his or her presence would contribute to the fairness of the procedure. We held in Syllabus point 6 of *State v. Boyd*,160 W.Va. 234, 233 S.E.2d 710 (1977), that "[t]he defendant has a right under Article III, Section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution to be present at all critical stages in the criminal proceeding; and when he is not, the State is required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that what transpired in his absence was harmless." See also *Kentucky v. Stincer*,482 U.S. 730, 745, 107 S.Ct. 2658 2667, 96 L.Ed.2d 631 (1987). We also have held that "[a] critical stage of a criminal proceeding is where the defendant's right to a fair trial will be affected." Syl. pt. 2, *State v. Tiller*, 168 W.Va. 522, 285 S.E.2d 371 (1981).

State v. Tex B.S., 236 W.Va. 261, 778 S.E.2d 710, 713 (2015).

In addition to personal presence, a criminal defendant has a right to the assistance of

counsel under "Section 14 of Article III of the West Virginia Constitution and the Sixth

Amendment to the United States Constitution[.]" Syl. pt. 6, in part, State ex rel. Daniel v.

Legursky, 195 W. Va. 314, 465 S.E.2d 416 (1995).

The United States Supreme Court has observed that "there are some constitutional rights so basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never be treated as harmless error[.]" *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 23, 87 S.Ct. 824, 827-28, 17 L.Ed.2d 705, 710 (1967) (footnote omitted). Thus, it has been held that "[a]ctual or constructive denial of the assistance of counsel ... is legally presumed to result in prejudice." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 692, 104 S.Ct. 2052 2067, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 696 (1984). The United States Supreme Court "has uniformly found constitutional error without any showing of prejudice when counsel was either totally absent, or prevented from assisting the accused during a critical stage of the proceeding." *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 659 n. 25, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 2047 n. 25, 80 L.Ed.2d 657, 668 n. 25 (1984).

### State v. Kirk N., 214 W.Va. 730, 591 S.E.2d 288 (2003).

The [Supreme Court of the United States] has uniformly found constitutional error without any showing of prejudice when counsel was either totally absent, or prevented from assisting the accused during a critical stage of the proceeding. See, e.g., *Geders v. United States*, 425 U.S. 80, 96 S.Ct. 1330, 47 L.Ed.2d 592 (1976); *Herring v. New York*, 422 U.S. 853, 95 S.Ct. 2550, 45 L.Ed.2d 593 (1975); *Brooks v. Tennessee*, 406 U.S. 605, 612-613, 92 S.Ct. 1891, 1895, 32 L.Ed.2d 358 (1972); *Hamilton v. Alabama*, 368 U.S. 52, 55, 82 S.Ct. 157, 159, 7 L.Ed.2d 114 (1961); *White v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 59, 60, 83 S.Ct. 1050, 1051, 10 L.Ed.2d 193 (1963) (per curiam); *Ferguson v. Georgia*, 365 U.S. 570, 81 S.Ct. 756, 5 L.Ed.2d 783 (1961); *Williams v. Kaiser*, 323 U.S. 471, 475-476, 65 S.Ct. 363, 366, 89 L.Ed. 398 (1945).

Van v. Jones, 475 F.3d 292, 305 n. 25 (6th Cir. 2007).

In cases of structural error under *Cronic*, prejudice is presumed, and the harmless error analysis is inappropriate. This is one such case. Under the facts of this case, structural error occurred, and that by itself is sufficient to require a new trial, entirely bypassing the harmless error analysis. In this case, there is no doubt that the severance of the Petitioner's trial from that of her co-defendant Mr. Knotts took place without her being there, and without her attorney Mr. D'Atri being there. The record is absolutely clear that Mr. D'Atri had not even arrived at the courthouse yet. (A.R., at 341). The docket sheet does not reflect that the Petitioner or her counsel were ever given notice that the Court was going to hold a hearing on the severance of the trials. (A.R., at 1-2). The only debatable question is whether or not the motion to sever the trials of the co-defendants was a critical stage, and the law is clear that it was.

A critical stage has been held to be when "[a]vailable defenses may be irretrievably lost, if not then and there asserted." *Hamilton*, 368 U.S. at 53 (1961). It has similarly been defined as one "where rights are preserved or lost." *White*, 373 U.S. at 60. It is a proceeding that has "significant consequences for the accused." *Bell*, 535 U.S. at 696. It is a stage where counsel's

presence is "necessary to mount a meaningful defence." *United States v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218, 225 (1967). These definitions are consonant with this Court's definition in Syllabus. pt. 2 of *Tiller, supra*.

The Sixth Circuit assessed a similar fact pattern, though not entirely identical, in *Van v. Jones, supra*. In that case, structural error was asserted when counsel was not present for a hearing to consolidate defendants for trial (which contrasts with the instant case, which was to sever the defendants' trials), in a case it deemed to be the first case on that particular issue before a United States Court of Appeals. *Van*, at 293. The Sixth Circuit determined that, due to Michigan's rules of procedure, the appellant had no loss of advantage from the consolidation, because his counsel was free to later seek a continuance without any prejudice being caused by the earlier consolidation. *Van*, at 313-315. Furthermore, in that case, counsel had been notified of the hearing, and did not appear. The Sixth Circuit did not want to create a "get out of jail free card" to incentivize counsel to absent themselves from a consolidation hearing, which under Michigan rules had to be brought by the prosecution. *Van*, at 315.

These factors are not in play here. By the time the Petitioner's counsel even knew severance was being considered, the co-defendant's trial had already been called off, and the jury had arrived. There was no opportunity to get the Circuit Court to reconsider, and no opportunity for gamesmanship of the sort discussed in *Van*. Also importantly, the Petitioner lost a critical advantage from having the trials severed; as astutely noted by Mr. Easton, *and as expressly agreed by the Circuit Court as the basis for granting the severance*, (A.R., at 340), the Petitioner's inculpatory statements would not be able to come in before the single jury in a joint trial due to the holding of *Bruton.*<sup>4</sup> The statements did, however, come in at her own trial

<sup>4</sup> Bruton was subsequently modified by Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200 (1987). See also, State v. Mullens, 371 S.E.2d 64, 179 W.Va. 567 (1988).

against her. (A.R., at 198-199, 211-217). Under these circumstances, it is plain that the severance hearing was a critical stage, and the absence of the Court to ensure the presence of the Petitioner and Mr. D'Atri created structural error sufficient to justify a new trial.

# 2. The Petitioner was improperly convicted of two counts of conspiracy stemming from the same agreement.

A claim of double jeopardy is governed by the following standard of review: "Where the

issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an

interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review." Syllabus point 1, Chrystal

R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

This Court has held that:

"'The Double Jeopardy Clause in Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution, provides immunity from further prosecution where a court having jurisdiction has acquitted the accused. It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction. It also prohibits multiple punishments for the same offense.' Syllabus Point 1, *Conner v. Griffith*, 160 W.Va. 680, 238 S.E.2d 529 (1977)." Syllabus point 2, *State v. Gill*, 187 W.Va. 136, 416 S.E.2d 253 (1992).

Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Kent, 678 S.E.2d 26, 223 W.Va. 520 (2009).

In this case, the Defendant was convicted of both Count 2 and Count 4 of the Indictment.

Count 2 is Conspiracy to Commit Burglary, and Count 4 is Conspiracy to Commit Grand Larceny. Notably, the text of the indictment of Count 1, the Burglary charge, asserts that it was undertaken "with the intent to steal items" from the "residence and outbuilding." Thus, the scope of the conspiracy to commit larceny is wholly subsumed within the conspiracy to commit burglary.

This Court has previously assessed a fact pattern such as this, in which there were separate convictions for larceny and breaking and entering:

We, therefore, conclude that under our general conspiracy statute, W.Va.Code, 61-10-31, a conspiracy to commit one or more substantive crimes does not mean an accused may be charged with conspiracy to commit each separate crime. Under our general conspiracy statute, if it is determined that multiple conspiracy agreements were made to commit the several substantive crimes, then the accused may be charged with multiple conspiracies to commit each of these crimes. To determine whether single or multiple conspiracy agreements exist, the courts consider a number of factors under a totality of circumstances test.

In the present case, we conclude as a matter of law that only one conspiracy case was shown by the evidence. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, only one agreement was proven--an agreement to rob the store. The fact that the act of robbing the store constituted two distinct crimes, breaking and entering and larceny, cannot transform one agreement into two agreements under the conspiracy statute. The totality of circumstances test would show the time, persons acting as coconspirators, and the place where the events alleged as a part of the conspiracy took place were substantially the same. The statutory substantive offenses charged were the same as the overt acts charged in the two conspiracy charges, i.e., (1) breaking and entering and (2) larceny. Consequently, the defendant's conviction of two conspiracy offenses constituted a violation of the foregoing established double jeopardy principles.

State v. Johnson, 179 W.Va. 619, 630-31, 371 S.E.2d 340, 351-52 (1988).

The totality of the circumstances test referenced above was adopted from the federal

courts, and set forth as follows:

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