DO NOT REMOVE



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 22-0082

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

FILE COPY

TAMMY GRAY,

v.

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the January 4, 2022, Order Circuit Court of Mineral County Case No. 19-F-78

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARY BETH NIDAY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
West Virginia State Bar No. 9092
Office of the Attorney General
1900 Kanawha Blvd. E.
State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406
Charleston, WV 25305
Tel: (304) 558-5830

Fax: (304) 558-5833

Email: Mary.B.Niday@wvago.gov

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner appealed.

Petitioner first argues that the trial court committed structural error when both she and her counsel were denied the right to appear at a severance hearing, which she contends is a critical stage. Petitioner, however, had the opportunity to object to the severance prior to the beginning of trial but the record fails to indicate that she did. Similarly, Petitioner did not object during trial to the admissibility of her statement to Lt. Leatherman, the admission of which she complains prejudiced her at trial. Consequently, Petitioner's ability to object to the severance, even though

she did not, demonstrates that the severance hearing was not a critical stage as her right to a fair trial was not affected. *See Van v. Jones*, 475 F.3d 292, 293 (2007). Assuming arguendo that the hearing was a critical stage, her ability to object, despite her failure to do so, rendered any error by the trial court harmless.

Petitioner's second assignment of error likewise is without merit. Thought Petitioner argues that the State failed to prove the existence of two separate conspiracy agreements, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate pursuant to Rule 10(c)(7) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure that she preserved her objection below. As such, Petitioner's claim is subject to plain error analysis. See Syl. Pt. 8, State v. Miller, 194 W.Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). Under this plain error analysis, Petitioner is unable to prove any error, let alone plain error, because the record below was not developed as to the totality of circumstances test set forth in Syllabus Point 8, State v. Johnson, 179 W.Va. 619, 371 S.E.2d 341 (1988).

Petitioner's final assignment of error—that the trial court erred in denying her motion to suppress the evidence obtained pursuant to the search warrant—is also without merit. The applicable search warrant particularly described the places to be searched and the things to be seized. See Syl. Pt. 3, in part, State v. Lacy, 196 W.Va. 104, 468 S.E.2d 719 (1996). Moreover, the warrant identified the crime for which the evidence was to be seized. See United States v. Blakeney, 949 F.3d 851, 862–63 (4th Cir. 2020). The warrant need not have described every item to be seized so long as the officer knew what was to be seized as was the case here. Accordingly, this Court should affirm Petitioner's convictions and sentence.

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Respondent disagrees with Petitioner that oral argument is necessary and asserts that this case is suitable for disposition by memorandum decision because the record is fully developed and

the arguments of both parties are adequately presented in the briefs. W.Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(3) and (4).

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Petitioner had no constitutional right to be tried together with her co-defendant and, therefore, the hearing to sever Petitioner's trial from that of her co-defendant was not a critical stage requiring either hers or her counsel's presence. Likewise, Petitioner's alleged error is not structural because it is an allegation of error in the trial process which Petitioner failed to preserve. Consequently, Petitioner's claim fails under a plain error analysis because she cannot demonstrate any error, let alone plain error.

In her first assignment of error, Petitioner argues that neither she nor her counsel were present when the trial court ordered a severance of her co-defendant's trial from hers, thereby resulting in structural error. (Pet'r Br. 5–9.) "Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a/question of law . . . we apply a de novo standard of review." Syl. Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment guarantee the right of defendants charged with felonies to be present at all critical stages of their trials. See State v. Boyd, 160 W.Va. 234, 246, 233 S.E.2d 710, 718–19 (1977). A critical stage has been defined as "one where the defendant's right to a fair trial will be affected." Id. at 246, 233 S.E.2d at 719; see also Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685, 696 (2002) (characterizing a critical stage as one that "held significant consequences for the accused."). The critical stage requirement is "subject to the harmless error test." Boyd, 160 W.Va. at 247, 233 S.E.2d at 719. In addition to the accused being guaranteed the right to be present at all critical stages, the Sixth Amendment, and Section 14, Article III of the West Virginia Constitution, similarly "safeguards [] an accused who faces incarceration the right to counsel at all critical stages of the criminal process." Iowa v. Tovar, 541 U.S. 77, 80–81 (2004). In United States v. Cronic, the United States Supreme Court held that a court may presume that an accused has

suffered unconstitutional prejudice when he "is denied counsel at a critical stage of his trial." 466 U.S. 648, 659 (1984).

Generally, and especially in conspiracy cases, when defendants are indicted together, they are typically tried together. *See United States v. Najjar*, 300 F.3d 466, 473 (4th Cir. 2002) (acknowledging that "there is a preference in the federal system for joint trials of defendants who are indicted together"). In certain circumstances, however, a consolidated trial may be inappropriate and, under such circumstances, Rule 14 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, empowers trial courts to order a severance. *See* W.Va. R. Crim. P. 14(b) ("If the joinder of defendants in an indictment, . . . or a consolidation for trial appears to prejudice a defendant or the State, the Court may sever the defendants' trials, or provide whatever other relief that justice requires.").

One circumstance requiring severance is when the extra-judicial statement of a non-testifying defendant to be admitted at trial directly inculpates another defendant. *See Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 137 (1968). In *Bruton*, the Supreme Court reasoned that when the non-testifying defendant's statement is considered as evidence against the other defendant, that defendant is denied his Sixth Amendment right to confrontation, even when a limiting instruction is provided. *Id.* at 127–28, 137 ("Despite the concededly clear instructions to the jury to disregard [the co-defendant's] inadmissible hearsay evidence inculpating petitioner, in the context of a joint trial we cannot accept limiting instructions as an adequate substitute for petitioner's constitutional right of cross-examination. The effect is the same as if there had been no instruction at all.").

Here, Petitioner was not indicted with her co-defendant, though the trial was scheduled to be a consolidated trial. (App. 118.) On the eve of trial, Petitioner's co-defendant and the State conferred regarding a possible *Bruton* issue because Petitioner's statement to Deputy Leatherman

was to be admitted at trial in the face of Petitioner's statement at the January 5, 2021, pretrial hearing that he did not have a motion to suppress Petitioner's statement. (App. 113.) When Petitioner was arrested on July 21, 2019, Lt. Leatherman interviewed her at which time Petitioner gave a Mirandized statement implicating her co-defendant in the conspiracy, burglary, and theft of items from the Nutter property. (App. 212–17.) Consequently, on the morning of trial the State moved to sever the trials of the two co-defendants. (App. 339–40.) The co-defendant objected to the severance and requested that the trial proceed as scheduled, without the admission of Petitioner's statement. (App. 340.) The trial court, acting pursuant to Rule 14 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, granted the State's motion and continued the co-defendant's trial to later date in August 2021. (App. 340.) Neither Petitioner nor her attorney were present at this hearing. (App. 341.) Petitioner's trial, however, proceeded that day as previously scheduled. (See generally, App. 121–295.) Petitioner and her counsel were obviously notified of the trial court's decision to sever the co-defendants' trials, but the Appendix Record does not memorialize this conveyance of information.

Petitioner argues that the hearing on the State's motion to sever was a "critical stage" requiring the presence of both Petitioner and her counsel. The very nature of Rule 14 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure demonstrates that the trial court's ability to sever is a discretionary function. Petitioner, therefore, had no constitutional right to be tried jointly with her co-defendant. In *State v. Rueckert*, the Supreme Court of Kansas so found that "[a] motion to sever is not a 'critical stage' of the proceeding which requires counsel to be present as is an arraignment, preliminary hearing, or custodial interrogation." 561 P.2d 850, 855 (Kan. 1977). The Kansas Supreme Court explicitly found that because the "granting of separate trials is a discretionary

power which rests in the hands of the trial court . . . [a] defendant does not have the right to be tried with or separate from a codefendant if no prejudice to his rights can be shown." *Id*.

Similarly, in *Van v. Jones*, 475 F.3d 292, 293 (2007), as cited by Petitioner, the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals concluded that a defendant's consolidation hearing was not a critical stage. In so finding, the Court of Appeals reasoned that because the defendant's counsel could have cured the potential harm arising from his absence by filing a motion to sever later in the proceedings, then the defendant did not suffer significant consequences from his total denial of counsel at the consolidation hearing. *Id.* at 314.

Petitioner asserts that the facts of Van are inapposite to her case because "[b]y the time the Petitioner's counsel even knew severance was being considered, the co-defendant's trial had already been called off, and the jury had arrived." (Pet'r Br. 8.) The record, as provided by Petitioner, however, is silent as to when and how she learned of the severance. Moreover, there is no indication that counsel even objected to having not been present or requested a continuance to sort out the severance issue. Not to mention, Petitioner's counsel explicitly stated pre-trial he was not moving to suppress Petitioner's statement, (App. 113), and even after the trial was severed Petitioner did not object to the admission of her statement at trial by Lt. Leatherman (App. 198– 99). She cannot stand silent on what she now claims was a critical stage and in turn allege that the severance hearing was a critical stage when she always had the opportunity to object to the severance of the trial but chose not to or to the admission of her statement. Consequently, Petitioner's absence and her counsel's absence from the severance hearing does not rise to the level of either a critical stage or a structural error. A structural error "affect[s] the framework within which the trial proceeds," as opposed to "being 'simply an error in the trial process itself." Weaver v. Massachusetts, __ U.S. __, 137 S.Ct. 1899, 1907-08 (2017) (quoting Arizona v. Fulminante,

499 U.S. 279, 309–10 (1991)). Petitioner's alleged error is one of an error in the trial process itself and, thus, is not a structural error.

Moreover, Petitioner failed to preserve her claim of structural error below and, therefore, her claim is subject to plain error analysis. In *Johnson v. United States*, the United States Supreme Court expressly stated that the seriousness of a claimed structural error "does not remove consideration of it from the ambit of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure," and proceeded to consider the petitioner's claim under the plain error analysis under Rule 52(b) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 520 U.S. 461, 466 (1997); *see also* W.Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(3) ("If the issue was not presented to the lower tribunal, the assignment of error must be phrased in such a fashion as to alert the . . . Supreme Court to the fact that plain error is asserted.").

Plain error has been defined by this Court as "(1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." Syl. Pt. 7, State v. Miller, 194 W.Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). "The 'plain error' doctrine grants appellate courts, in the interest of justice, the authority to notice error to which no objection has been made." Id. at 18, 459 S.E.2d at 129. Petitioner cannot meet the first requirement of the analysis—that the trial court committed error—let alone demonstrate that any error was plain. Neither this Court nor the Supreme Court of the United States has identified a hearing on the severance of co-defendants' trial as a critical stage. Petitioner, therefore, has not and cannot assert any authority upon which the trial court committed any error. See United States v. Vizcaino, 202 F.3d 345, 348 (U.S. App. D.C. 2000) ("Even assuming the district court erred, absent precedent from either the Supreme Court or this court holding that relevant conduct's disproportional weight may form a basis for a section 5K2.0 departure, the asserted error—failure

to recognize authority to depart on those grounds—falls far short of plain error."). Petitioner, therefore, cannot satisfy the elements of plain error and her claim is without merit.

B. Pursuant to Rule 10(c)(7) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate where her alleged error was preserved below. The Court should refuse to consider her claim based on this failure. To the extent the Court considers Petitioner's claim, it can only be considered under the plain error doctrine. Due to Petitioner's failure to preserve the alleged error below, this Court is without a sufficient record to determine under the totality of the circumstances test whether one or multiple conspiracy agreements existed.

Next, Petitioner alleges that the trial court violated the Double Jeopardy Clause of the West Virginia Constitution by allowing Petitioner to be convicted and sentenced for both Conspiracy to Commit Burglary and Conspiracy to Commit Grand Larceny as both counts of the indictment stemmed from the same agreement. (Pet'r Br. 9–11.) Petitioner asserts that the same co-conspirators were alleged in the indictment for each conspiracy, that the larceny charge was within the mental scope of the burglary charge, and that the "allegations involve a single target property and the moving of goods from that property to a single nearby property." (Pet'r Br. 11.) Consequently, Petitioner contends that she was subjected to consecutive sentences for conspiracy in violation of the principles of double jeopardy and her sentence should be vacated. (Pet'r Br. 11.)

Petitioner has failed to make any citation to the record demonstrating how this alleged error was preserved for appeal. Pursuant to Rule 10(c)(7) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure the argument section of the brief "must contain appropriate and specific citations to the record on appeal, including citations that pinpoint when and how the issues in the assignments of error were presented to the lower tribunal." The Rule further provides that the "Court may disregard errors that are not adequately supported by specific references to the record on appeal." W.Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(7). Moreover, this Court has noted, pursuant to an Administrative Order entered on December 10, 2012, Re: Filings That Do Not Comply With the Rules of Appellate

Procedure, that "[b]riefs that lack citation of authority [or] fail to structure an argument applying applicable law" do not comply with the Court's rules. See State v. Anderson, No. 18-1129, 2020 WL 3410249, at *5 (W.Va. Supreme Court, June 18, 2020) (memorandum decision). This Court, therefore, should not consider Petitioner's claim for his failure to comply with Rule 10(c)(7).

Nevertheless, to the extent that the Court considers Petitioner's claim, it must be considered under the plain error analysis. *See* W.Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(3); Syl. Pt. 7, *State v. Miller*, 194 W.Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114.

"[A] double jeopardy claim [is] reviewed *de novo*." *State v. Duke*, No. 21-0162, 2022 WL 1115093, at *7 (W.Va. Supreme Court, Apr. 14, 2022) (to be published) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *State v. Sears*, 196 W.Va. 71, 468 S.E.2d 324 (1996)). "The double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment prohibits the prosecution of a single conspiracy as two more conspiracies under a general conspiracy statute merely because two separate substantive crimes have been committed." Syl. Pt. 7, *State v. Johnson*, 179 W.Va. 619, 371 S.E.2d 341 (1988).

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